

F. McArdle Chief Executive

Civic Offices, Civic Way, Swadlincote, Derbyshire DE11 0AH

www.south-derbys.gov.uk

Please ask for: Democratic Services Phone: (01283) 595722 / 595848 Minicom: (01283) 595849 DX 23912 Swadlincote Email : democraticservices@south-derbys.gov.uk

Date: 14 June 2016

Dear Councillor,

Overview and Scrutiny Committee

A Meeting of the **Overview and Scrutiny Committee** will be held in the **Council Chamber**, on **Wednesday, 22 June 2016** at **18:00**. You are requested to attend.

Yours faithfully,

Mulk McArdle

Chief Executive

To:- Conservative Group

Councillor Mrs. Farrington (Chairman), Councillor Swann (Vice-Chairman) and Councillors Billings, Mrs. Coe and Mrs. Patten.

Labour Group

Councillors Bambrick, Dunn and Dr. Pearson.









AGENDA

Open to Public and Press

- 1 Apologies.
- 2 Minutes

3

4

5

6

7

8

| Overview and Scrutiny Committee 10th February 2016 Open | 4 - 6 |
|--|---------|
| Minutes | |
| Overview and Scrutiny Committee 23rd March 2016 Open Minutes | 7 - 9 |
| To note any declarations of interest arising from any items on the Agenda | |
| To receive any questions by members of the public pursuant to | |
| Council Procedure Rule No.10. | |
| To receive any questions by Members of the Council pursuant to | |
| Council procedure Rule No. 11. | |
| REGULATION OF INVESTIGATORY POWERS ACT 2000 (RIPA) – POLICY & GUIDANCE DOCUMENT AND QUARTERLY REPORT | 10 - 54 |
| ANNUAL REPORT 2015/16 | 55 - 68 |
| SETTING THE WORK PROGRAMME 2016-17 | 69 - 72 |

Exclusion of the Public and Press:

9 The Chairman may therefore move:-

That in accordance with Section 100 (A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) the press and public be excluded from the remainder of the Meeting as it is likely, in view of the nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings, that there would be disclosed exempt information as defined in the paragraph of Part I of the Schedule 12A of the Act indicated in the header to each report on the Agenda.

10 To receive any Exempt questions by Members of the Council pursuant to Council procedure Rule No. 11.











OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

10th February 2016

PRESENT:-

Conservative Group

Councillor Swann (Vice-Chairman), Councillor Atkin and Councillor Mrs Coe.

In Attendance

Councillor Hewlett.

OS/45 <u>APOLOGIES</u>

Apologies were received from Councillors Mrs Farrington and Mrs Patten (Conservative Group), and Councillors Bambrick, Dr. Pearson and Mrs. Stuart (Labour Group).

OS/46 MINUTES

The Open Minutes of the Meetings held on 21st October 2015 and 9th December 2015. were taken as read, approved as a true record and signed by the Chairman.

OS/47 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST ARISING FROM ITEMS ON AGENDA

The Committee were informed that no declarations of interest from Members of the Council had been received.

OS/48 QUESTIONS RECEIVED BY MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC PURUSANT TO COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULE NO. 10

The Committee were informed that no questions from members of the Public had been received.

OS/49 QUESTIONS RECEIVED BY MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL PURUSANT TO COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULE NO. 11

The Committee were informed that no questions from Members of the Council had been received.

OS/50 SECTION 106 HEALTH BASED PLANNING CONTRIBUTIONS

The Locality Manager, Mr. Robert Hill from the Southern Derbyshire Clinical Commissioning Group (SDCCG), gave a verbal update on the current situation

regarding Section 106 Health based contributions received since 1st April 2009.

RESOLVED:-

1.1 That the Committee noted the content of the update.

OS/51 HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT BUDGET, FINANCIAL PLAN and PROPOSED RENT 2016/17

The Director of Finance and Corporate Services updated Members on the position of the Council's final budget proposals for 2016/17 and medium term financial projections on its main revenue and capital accounts, these proposals will form the basis of setting the Council Tax for 2016/17 by Full Council on 29th February 2016.

The Finance and Management Committee approved a review of future capital investment plans to ensure that the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) could meet commitments for debt repayment and maintain a minimum working balance of £1m in accordance with the Financial Strategy.

Following the base budget review and the need to find resources, the Financial Plan had been reviewed and updated, to include a proposal to deliver a Phase 2 Programme allowing the Council to increase its housing stock. The updated plan identified the main risks to be, future rent levels, capital expenditure, rents from new build, right to buys, supporting people grant, impairments, Central Government policy and Universal Credit.

<u>RESOLVED:-</u>

- 1.1 That the proposed estimates of income and expenditure for 2016/17, together with the 10-year Financial Plan for the Housing Revenue Account be noted.
- 1.2 That the proposal of Council House Rents are reduced as approved by the Finance and Management Committee be noted.

OS/52 COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 2015/16

That the Committee considers its work programme and made three recommendations.

RESOLVED:-

That Recycling, Street Cleansing and Cemetery Provision be added to the work programme for 2016/17..

OS/53 LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 AS AMENDED BY THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985

RESOLVED:-

That, in accordance with Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended), the press and public be excluded from the remainder of the Meeting as it would be likely, in view of the nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings, that there would be disclosed exempt information as defined in the paragraphs of Part 1 of the Schedule 12A of the Act indicated in brackets after each item.

EXEMPT QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL UNDER COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULE NO 11

The Committee were informed that no exempt questions from Members of the Council had been received.

The Meeting terminated at 6:35 pm.

COUNCILLOR MRS. FARRINGTON

CHAIR

.

<u>OPEN</u>

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

23rd March 2016

PRESENT:-

Conservative Group

Councillor Mrs Farrington (Chair), Councillor Swann (Vice-Chairman), Councillor Mrs Coe and Councillor Mrs. Patten.

Labour Group

Councillor Bambrick and Councillor Mrs Stuart.

OS/54 <u>APOLOGIES</u>

Apologies were received from Councillor Atkin (Conservative Group), and Councillor Dr Pearson (Labour Group).

OS/55 <u>MINUTES</u>

The Open Minutes of the Meeting held on 20th January 2016 were taken as read, approved as a true record and signed by the Chairman.

OS/56 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST ARISING FROM ITEMS ON AGENDA

The Committee was informed that no declarations of interest from Members of the Council had been received.

OS/57 QUESTIONS RECEIVED BY MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC PURUSANT TO COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULE NO. 10

The Committee was informed that no questions from members of the Public had been received.

OS/58 QUESTIONS RECEIVED BY MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL PURUSANT TO COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULE NO. 11

The Committee was informed that no questions from Members of the Council had been received.

OS/59 SECTION 106 HEALTH BASED PLANNING CONTRIBUTIONS

The Principal Area Planning Officer Chris Nash explained the process in which Section 106 claims are made, and gave a verbal update on the current situation of NHS Health based contributions received since 1st April 2009.

<u>RESOLVED:-</u>

1.1 That the Committee noted the content of the update.

The meeting was suspended at 6:10 p.m.

In accordance with Paragraph 10.3: of the Council's Procedure Rules, The Chairman used her discretion to allow the Practice Manager from Swadlincote Surgery to ask a question regarding Section 106 NHS contributions. The Principal Area Planning Officer responded accordingly.

The meeting resumed at 6:20 p.m

OS/60 REGULATION OF INVESTIGATORY POWERS ACT 2000 (RIPA) -QUARTERLY REPORT ON USAGE

The Director of Finance and Corporate Services outlined the report, emphasising that the usage of RIPA (Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act) during the period December 2015 to February 2016 was nil, and no authorisations had been requested or granted.

<u>RESOLVED</u>:-

1.1 To note the internal report on the Council's use of the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000.

OS/61 ANNUAL REPORT FROM THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 2015/16

The Committee considered the draft Annual Report for the 2015/16 local government year. This report outlined how the Committee had discharged its functions over the year and what issues the Committee had considered. The report highlighted in particular the work that Members had carried out in relations to local Dental Provision and Section 106 NHS Contributions.

Members welcomed the report, which they thought reflected the work that the Committee had carried out during the year in a positive manner.

RESOLVED:-

That Members gave further consideration to the Committee's Annual Report for 2015/16 and agreed delegation arrangements for the completion of the Annual Report.

OS/62 COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 2015/16

Members were asked to consider its work programme for future meetings and particularly the review areas to be included on the agenda for the next meeting.

A request had been received to add Bulky Household Waste, Business/commercial Waste and Saturday Morning refuse collection services to the 2016/17 Work Programme.

<u>RESOLVED</u>:-

That the Overview and Scrutiny Committee considered its work programme and agreed the review area(s) for the next meeting.

That the Committee agreed a Scoping Exercise to be arranged prior the commencement of the next cycle of meetings for 2016/17 to discuss the waste/refuse collection services.

OS/63 LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 AS AMENDED BY THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985

RESOLVED:-

That, in accordance with Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended), the press and public be excluded from the remainder of the Meeting as it would be likely, in view of the nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings, that there would be disclosed exempt information as defined in the paragraphs of Part 1 of the Schedule 12A of the Act indicated in brackets after each item.

EXEMPT QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL UNDER COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULE NO 11

The Committee were informed that no exempt questions from Members of the Council had been received.

The Meeting terminated at 6:40 pm.

COUNCILLOR MRS. FARRINGTON

CHAIR

| REPORT TO: | OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE | AGENDA ITEM: 6 |
|----------------------------|--|------------------------|
| DATE OF MEETING: | 22 ND JUNE 2016 | CATEGORY: DELEGATED |
| REPORT FROM | CHIEF EXECUTIVE | OPEN |
| MEMBERS' CONTACT POINT: | ARDIP KAUR – 595715 ardip.kaur@south-derbys.gov.uk | DOC: |
| SUBJECT: | REGULATION OF INVESTGATORY POWERS ACT 2000 (RIPA) – POLICY & GUIDANCE DOCUMENT AND QUARTERLY REPORT | REF: |
| WARD(S) AFFECTED: | All | TERMS OF REFERENCE: |

1.0 <u>Recommendations</u>

- 1.1 To approve the Council's Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 ('RIPA') Policy and Guidance document.
- 1.2 To note the internal report on the Council's use of the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 in the last quarter.

2.0 Purpose of Report

- 2.1 To approve the Council's Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 Policy and Guidance document, as set out in **Appendix A**.
- 2.2 To note the report on the Council's use of the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 since 1st March 2016.

3.0 Detail

- 3.1 Full Council on 2nd March 2015 approved the Council's amended RIPA Policy and Guidance document. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee is authorised to review the Council's use of RIPA, set the Council's general surveillance policy, and consider quarterly reports on the use of RIPA to ensure that it is being used as per the Council's policy.
- 3.2 RIPA is intended to regulate the use of investigatory powers and ensure they are used in accordance with human rights. This is achieved by requiring certain investigations involving covert surveillance to be authorised by an appropriate Authorising Officer and then a Justice of the Peace (JP), a District Judge or lay Magistrate before they are carried out.

- 3.3 Directed surveillance is often conducted by local authorities to investigate benefit fraud or to collect evidence of anti-social behaviour. It may involve covertly following people, covertly taking photographs of them or using hidden cameras to record their movements.
- 3.4 The Office of Surveillance Commissioners (OSC) was set up to monitor compliance with RIPA. The OSC has a duty to keep under review, the exercise and performance by the relevant persons, of the powers and duties under the Act. The Surveillance Commissioner will from time to time inspect the Council's records and procedures for this purpose.
- 3.5 The OSC has updated its Procedures and Guidance document and the Council's Policy document has been updated to reflect these updates along with other changes in Codes of Practice, legislative requirements, and good practice.
- 3.6 The usage of RIPA during the period March 2016 to May 2016 was nil. No authorisations were requested or granted.

4.0 Financial Implications

4.1 None arising directly from this report.

5.0 Corporate Implications

5.1 The Council must act in accordance with legislative changes regarding the authorisation process and the surveillance crime threshold.

6.0 <u>Community Implications</u>

6.1 The Authorising Officer would need to know by those carrying out the surveillance if the investigation or operation would unexpectedly interfere with the privacy of individuals not covered by the authorisation. The Authorising Officer must be made aware of any particular sensitivities in the local community.

7.0 Background Papers

- 7.1 Office of Surveillance Commissioners Procedures and Guidance document
- 7.2 Office of Surveillance Commissioners Codes of Conduct
- 7.3 Council's Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 ('RIPA') Policy and Guidance document

SOUTH DERBYSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL

REGULATION OF INVESTIGATORY POWERS ACT 2000 (RIPA)

POLICY AND GUIDANCE

CONTENTS

<u>Page nos</u>.

| 2-3 | Introduction |
|---------|---|
| 4 – 26 | Guidance - Part I – Direct Surveillance and CHIS |
| 27 – 30 | Guidance – Part II – Acquisition and Disclosure of Communications data |
| | Appendices |
| 31 | Appendix A – Covert Surveillance and Property Interference – Code of Practice |
| 32 | Appendix B – Covert Human Intelligence Sources – Code of Practice |
| 33 | Appendix C – Office of Surveillance Commissioners Procedures & Guidance 2010 |
| 34 | Appendix D – Directed Surveillance Flowchart |
| 35 | Appendix E – Application to a Justice of the Peace Flowchart |
| 36 | Appendix F – Directed Surveillance Forms |
| 37 | Appendix G – CHIS Forms |
| 38 | Appendix H – Code of Practice – Acquisition and Disclosure of Communications Data |
| 39 | Appendix I – Communication Data Forms |
| 40 – 41 | Appendix J – Judicial Application Form and Order Form |

SOUTH DERBYSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL

POLICY ON REGULATION OF INVESTIGATORY POWERS ACT 2000 (RIPA)

Introduction

South Derbyshire District Council only carries out covert surveillance where such action is justified and endeavours to keep such surveillance to a minimum. It recognises the importance of complying with RIPA when such an investigation is for the purpose of preventing or detecting crime or preventing disorder and has produced this guidance document to assist officers.

Applications for authority

All applications for authorisation in accordance with RIPA ('Authorising Officers') will be considered by a member of the Corporate Management Team identified in the table below (Chief Executive, Director of Finance and Corporate Services, Director of Housing and Environmental Services). Any incomplete or inadequate application forms will be returned to the applicant for amendment. Authorising Officers shall in particular ensure that:-

- there is a satisfactory reason for carrying out the surveillance
- the covert nature of the investigation is necessary
- proper consideration has been given to collateral intrusion
- the proposed length and extent of the surveillance is proportionate to the information being sought.
- Chief Executive's authorisation is sought where legal/medical/clerical issues are involved
- The authorisations are reviewed and cancelled.
- Records of all authorisations are sent to the Legal and Democratic Services Manager for entry on the Central Register.

AUTHORISING OFFICERS

DIRECTOR OF FINANCE & CORPORATE SERVICES

CHIEF EXECUTIVE

DIRECTOR OF HOUSING & ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES

Senior Responsible Officer

The Senior Responsible Officer is the Chief Executive. The Senior Responsible Officer has overall responsibility for RIPA, as outlined in the Codes of Practice and the Council's Policy and Guidance.

RIPA Co-ordinating Officer / Training

The RIPA Co-ordinating Officer is the Council's Legal and Democratic Services Manager. The RIPA Co-ordinating Officer is responsible for the maintenance of the Central Record of Authorisations and the collation of RIPA applications/authorisations, reviews, renewals, and cancellations. In addition, there is responsibility for providing oversight of the RIPA process within the Council and for RIPA training.

The RIPA Co-ordinating Officer shall ensure that refresher training is offered once a year to all directorates of the Council and also give advice and training on request.

The RIPA Co-ordinating Officer is responsible for raising RIPA awareness within the Council.

Authorising Officers shall be responsible for ensuring that relevant members of staff are aware of the Act's requirements.

Legislative Changes

By virtue of sections 37 and 38 of the Protection of Freedoms Act 2012, from 1st November 2012 the Council will be required to obtain judicial approval prior to using covert techniques. Authorisations and notices under RIPA will only be given effect once an Order has been granted by a Justice of the Peace (JP), a District Judge or lay Magistrate.

Local authorities in England and Wales can no longer seek the protection of the Act on the grounds provided by subsections 28(3)(d) and (e) (i.e. in the interests of public safety and for the purpose of protecting public health). In relation to directed surveillance (though not to authorising CHIS), their remaining powers were further limited by Statutory Instrument 2012/1500. To authorise directed surveillance, the Authorising Officer must demonstrate that the proposed activity is necessary for the prevention or detection of a crime which either carries a maximum sentence of at least six months' imprisonment or is an offence relating to the sale of alcohol or tobacco products to minors. (As to the definition of 'detecting crime', see RIPA section 81(5).) [Note 78 OSC's 2014 Procedures and Guidance document].

REGULATION OF INVESTIGATORY POWERS ACT 2000 (RIPA)

GUIDANCE - PART I

DIRECTED SURVEILLANCE AND COVERT HUMAN INTELLIGENCE SOURCE

1. <u>Purpose</u>

The purpose of this guidance is to explain

the scope of RIPA – Part II; the circumstances where it applies; and the authorisations procedures to be followed

2. <u>Introduction</u>

- 2.1 The Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 ("the Act"), which came into force in 2000, is intended to regulate the use of investigatory powers exercised by various bodies including local authorities, and ensure that they are used in accordance with human rights. This is achieved by requiring certain investigations to be authorised by an appropriate Authorising Officers before they are carried out.
- 2.2 The investigatory powers, which are relevant to a local authority, are directed covert surveillance in respect of specific operations or specific investigations and the use of covert human intelligence sources. The Act makes it clear for which purposes they may be used, to what extent, and who may authorise their use. There is also a Code of Practice in relation to the use of these powers and this attached at <u>Appendix A</u>. Attached at <u>Appendix C</u> is reference to the Procedure and Guidance document issued by the Office of Surveillance Commissioners in December 2014.
- 2.3 Consideration must be given, prior to authorisation as to whether or not the acquisition of private information is necessary and proportionate, i.e. whether a potential breach of a human right is justified in the interests of the community as a whole, or whether the information could be gleaned in other ways.
- 2.4 A public authority may only engage the Act when in performance of its core functions, that is the specific public functions undertaken by the authority in contrast to the ordinary functions that are undertaken by every authority, for example, employment issues, contractual arrangements, etc.

3. <u>Scrutiny and Tribunal</u>

3.1 External Scrutiny

3.1.1 The Office of Surveillance Commissioners (OSC) was set up to monitor compliance with the Act. The OSC has "a duty to keep under review the exercise and performance by the relevant persons of the powers and Page 15 of 72

duties under Part II of the Act", and the Surveillance Commissioner will from time to time inspect the Council's records and procedures for this purpose.

- 3.1.2 In order to ensure that investigating authorities are using the powers properly, the Act also establishes a Tribunal to hear complaints from persons aggrieved by conduct, e.g. directed surveillance. Applications will be heard on a judicial review basis. Such claims must be brought no later than one year after the taking place of the conduct to which it relates, unless it is just and equitable to extend this period.
- 3.1.3 The Tribunal can order:
 - Quashing or cancellation of any warrant or authorisation
 - Destruction of any records or information obtained by using a warrant or Authorisation
 - Destruction of records or information held by a public authority in relation to any person
- 3.1.4 The Council has a duty to disclose to the tribunal all documents they require if any Council officer has:
 - Granted any authorisation under the Act
 - Engaged in any conduct as a result of such authorisation

3.2 Internal Scrutiny

- 3.2.1 The Senior Responsible Officer is responsible for:
 - The integrity of the process in place within the Council to authorise directed surveillance and CHIS
 - Compliance with Part II of the Act and with the accompanying Codes of Practice
 - Engagement with the OSC when they conduct their inspections and
 - Where necessary oversee the implementation of any post-inspection action plans recommended or approved by the OSC
- 3.2.2 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee will review the authority's use of the Act and the Policy and Guidance document at least once a year. They will also consider internal reports on the use of the Act on at least a quarterly basis to ensure that it is being used consistently with this Policy and that that Policy is fit for purpose. The Members will not, however, be involved in making decisions on specific authorisations.

Elected Members and Senior Responsible Officers (see paragraphs 3.27 and 9.2 of the CHIS Code of Practice) are required to ensure that policies are fit for purpose and that Authorising Officers are competent. An Elected Member has no need to know the identity of a CHIS nor know the detail of conduct authorisations. Chief Executives may provide Elected Members

with a copy of OSC inspection reports, redacted if necessary. [Note 251 OSC's 2014 Procedures and Guidance document].

4. <u>Benefits of RIPA authorisations</u>

- 4.1 The Act states that if authorisation confers entitlement to engage in a certain conduct and the conduct is in accordance with the authorisation, then it will be lawful for all purposes. Consequently, the Act provides a statutory framework under which covert surveillance can be authorised and conducted compatibly with Article 8 of the Human Rights Act 1998 a person's right to respect for their private and family life, home and correspondence.
- 4.2 Material obtained through properly authorised covert surveillance is admissible evidence in criminal proceedings.
- 4.3 Section 78 Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984 allows for the exclusion of evidence if it appears to the court that, having regard to all the circumstances in which the evidence was obtained, the admission of the evidence would have such an adverse affect on the fairness of the proceedings that the court ought not to admit it. Evidence obtained through covert surveillance will not be excluded unless the test of unfairness is met.

5. <u>Definitions</u>

- 5.1 <u>'Covert'</u> is defined as surveillance carried out in such a manner that is calculated to ensure that the person subject to it is unaware that it is or may be taking place. (s.26 (9)(a) of the Act)
- 5.2 <u>'Covert human intelligence source'</u> (CHIS) is defined as a person who establishes or maintains a relationship with a person for the covert process of obtaining information about that person. (s.26 (8) of the Act)
- 5.3 <u>'Directed surveillance'</u> is defined as covert but not intrusive and undertaken:
 - for a specific investigation or operations
 - in such a way that is likely to result in the obtaining of private information about any person
 - other than by way of an immediate response (s.26 (2) of the Act)
- 5.4 <u>'Private information'</u> includes information relating to a person's private or family life and can embrace aspects of business and professional life.
- 5.5 <u>'Intrusive'</u> surveillance is covert surveillance that is carried out in relation to anything taking place on any residential premises or in any private vehicle and involves the presence of an individual on the premises or in the vehicle or using a surveillance device. <u>South Derbyshire District</u> <u>Council may not authorise such surveillance</u>. Page 17 of 72

- 5.6 'Authorising Officers' will be responsible to ensure their relevant members of staff are suitably trained as 'Applicants' so as to avoid errors in the operation of the process and completion of relevant forms. It is important that relevant Directors, Heads of Service and Authorising Officers take personal responsibility for the efficient and effective operation of this Policy and Guidance document within their respective areas.
- 5.7 Authorising Officers will also ensure that staff who report to them follow this Policy and Guidance document and do not undertake or carry out any form of surveillance without first obtaining the relevant authorisations in compliance with this document.
- 5.8 Authorising Officers must also ensure when sending copies of any forms to the RIPA Co-ordinating Officer, that they are sent in sealed envelopes marked 'RIPA Private and Confidential'.

6. <u>When does the Act apply ?</u>

6.1 Where the directed covert surveillance of an individual or group of individuals, or the use of a CHIS is necessary for the purpose of preventing or detecting crime or of preventing disorder.

The Act does:

- require prior authorisation of directed surveillance
- prohibit the Council from carrying out intrusive surveillance
- require <u>authorisation</u> of the conduct and use of a <u>CHIS</u>
- require <u>safeguards</u> for the conduct and use of <u>CHIS</u>
- permit the Council to <u>acquire communications data</u> in certain circumstances

The Act does not:

- make unlawful conduct which is otherwise lawful
- prejudice or dis-apply any existing powers available to the District Council to obtain information by any means not involving conduct that may be authorised under this Act. For example, it does not affect the District Council's current powers to obtain information via the DVLA or to get information from the Land Registry as to the ownership of a property.
- 6.2 If Authorising Officers or any Applicants are in doubt, s/he should speak to a representative from the Legal Services Section <u>BEFORE</u> authorising, renewing, cancelling or rejecting any directed surveillance, use of a CHIS and/or acquisition of communications data.

<u>CCTV</u>

6.3 The normal use of CCTV is not usually covert because members of the public are informed by signs that such equipment is in operation. However, authorisation should be sought where it is intended to use CCTV covertly and in a pre-planned manner as part of the specific investigation Page 18 of 72

or operation to target a specific individual or group of individuals. Equally a request, say by the police, to track particular individuals via CCTV recordings may require authorisation (from the police).

7. <u>Covert Human Intelligence Source ("CHIS")</u>

- 7.1 Put simply, this is undercover officers who do not reveal their true identity or professional witnesses used to obtain information and evidence.
- 7.2 The Act defines a CHIS under section 26 of the Act as anyone who:
 - (a) establishes or maintains a personal or other relationship with a person for the covert purpose of facilitating the doing of anything falling within paragraphs (b) or (c)
 - (b) covertly uses such a relationship to obtain information or provide access to any information to another person; or
 - (c) covertly discloses information obtained by the use of such a relationship or as a consequence of the existence of such a relationship
- 7.3 Any reference to the conduct of a CHIS includes the conduct of a source which falls within (a) to (c) or is incidental to it.
- 7.4 References to the use of a CHIS are references to inducing, asking or assisting a person to engage in such conduct.
- 7.5 Section 26(9) of the Act goes on to define:-
 - (b) a purpose is covert, in relation to the establishment or maintenance of a personal or other relationship, if, and only if, the relationship is conducted in a manner that is calculated to ensure that one of the parties to the relationship is unaware of that purpose; and
 - (c) a relationship is used covertly, and information obtained as mentioned in paragraph 7(c) above and is disclosed covertly, if, and only if it is used or as the case may be, disclosed in a manner that is calculated to ensure that one of the parties to the relationship is unaware of the use or disclosure in question.

A local authority may prefer to seek the assistance of the police or another public authority to manage its CHIS. In such a case a written protocol between the parties should be produced in order to ensure that an identified CHIS is properly managed (see CHIS Code of Practice 6.12). In the absence of such an agreement the local authority must be capable of fulfilling its statutory responsibilities. [Note 250 OSC's 2014 Procedures and Guidance document].

Some local authorities may not wish to use CHIS and may in practice avoid authorising CHIS. However, all such local authorities should Page 19 of 72 recognise that the occasion may arise when a CHIS appears unexpectedly and has to be authorised and managed. Consequently all local authorities must be equipped with a policy and awareness training to recognise status drift. [Note 252 OSC's 2014 Procedures and Guidance document].

7.6 <u>Juvenile Sources</u>

7.6.1 Special safeguards apply to the use or conduct of juvenile sources; that is sources under the age of 18 years. On no occasion should the use or conduct of a source under the age of 16 years be authorised to give information against his parents or any person who has parental responsibility of him. The duration of a juvenile CHIS is **one** month. The Regulation of Investigatory Powers (Juveniles) Order 2000 SI No. 2793 contains special provisions which must be adhered to in respect of juvenile sources.

7.7 <u>Vulnerable Individuals</u>

7.7.1 A vulnerable individual is a person who is, or may be, in need of community care services by reason of mental or other disability, age or illness and who is, or may be, unable to take care of himself, or unable to protect himself against significant harm or exploitation. Any individual of this description should only be authorised to act as a source in the most exceptional circumstances.

Only the Chief Executive, or somebody deputising for him in his absence, may authorise the employment of juvenile sources, vulnerable individuals and the obtaining of confidential information.

8. <u>Types of Surveillance</u>

8.1 **'Surveillance**' includes

- monitoring, observing, listening to persons, watching or following their movements, listening to their conversations and other such activities or communications
- recording anything mentioned above in the course of authorised surveillance
- surveillance, by or with, the assistance of appropriate surveillance device(s)

Surveillance can be <u>overt</u> or <u>covert</u>

8.2 **Overt Surveillance**

8.2.1 Most of the surveillance carried out by the Council will be done overtly – there will be nothing secretive, clandestine or hidden about it. In many cases, officers will be behaving in the same way as a normal member of the public and/or will be going about Council business openly.

8.2.2 Similarly, surveillance will be overt if the subject has been informed it will be happen (e.g. where a noisemaker is warned (preferably in writing) that noise will be recorded if the noise continues, or where an entertainment licence is issued subject to conditions, and the licensee is told that officers may visit without notice or identifying themselves to the owner/proprietor to check that the conditions are being met.

8.3 **Covert Surveillance**

- 8.3.1 Covert surveillance is carried out in a manner calculated to ensure that the person subject to the surveillance is <u>unaware</u> of it taking place (Section 26(9)(a) of the Act).
- 8.3.2 The Act regulates two types of covert surveillance, (directed surveillance and intrusive surveillance) and the use of Covert Human Intelligence Sources (CHIS's).

8.4 **Directed Surveillance**

- 8.4.1 Directed Surveillance is surveillance which: -
 - is <u>covert;</u> and
 - is not <u>intrusive surveillance</u> (see definition below the Council must not carry out any <u>intrusive</u> surveillance);
 - is not carried out in an immediate response to events which would otherwise make seeking authorisation under the Act unreasonable, e.g. spotting something suspicious and continuing to observe it; and
 - it is undertaken for the purpose of a **specific investigation** or operation in a manner **likely to obtain private information** about an individual (whether or not that person is specifically targeted for purposes of an investigation), (Section 26(10) of the Act).

Directed surveillance is covert surveillance that is carried out for the purposes of a specific investigation or operation in such a manner as is likely to result in the obtaining of private information about any person, whether or not he is a subject of the action. It includes the activity of monitoring, observing, listening and recording by or with the assistance of surveillance equipment. It need not be subject specific. A search for an identified person in a public place will not amount to directed surveillance, unless it includes covert activity that may elicit private information about that person or any other person. Any processing of data (e.g. taking a photograph to put on record) is an invasion of privacy. [Note 269 OSC Procedures and Guidance 2010]

8.4.2 <u>Private information</u> in relation to a person includes any information relating to his private and family life, his home and his correspondence. The fact that covert surveillance occurs in a public place or on business premises does not mean that it cannot result in the obtaining of private information

about a person. Prolonged surveillance targeted on a single person will undoubtedly result in the obtaining of private information about him/her <u>and others</u> that s/he comes into contact, or associates, with.

- 8.4.3 Similarly, although overt town centre CCTV cameras do not normally require authorisation, if the camera is tasked for a specific purpose, which involves prolonged surveillance on a particular person, authorisation will be required. The way a person runs his/her business may also reveal information about his or her private life and the private life of others.
- 8.4.4 For the avoidance of doubt, only those Officers designated and certified to be 'Authorising Officers' for the purpose of the Act can authorise 'Directed Surveillance' IF, AND ONLY IF, the Act authorisation procedures detailed in this document are followed. If an Officer has not been 'authorised' for the purposes of the Act, s/he can NOT carry out or approve/reject any action set out in this policy and guidance document.

8.5 **Directed Surveillance Crime Threshold**

The crime threshold applies only to the authorisation of directed surveillance by the Council under RIPA, not to the authorisation of the Council's use of CHIS or the acquisition of communications data.

The amendments to the Regulation of Investigatory Powers (Directed Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Sources) Order 2010 have the following effect:

- The Council can only authorise use of directed surveillance under RIPA to prevent or detect criminal offences that are either punishable, whether on summary conviction or indictment, by a maximum term of at least 6 months imprisonment or are related to the underage sale of alcohol and tobacco.
- The Council cannot authorise directed surveillance for the purpose of preventing disorder unless this involves a criminal offence(s) punishable (whether on summary conviction or indictment) by a maximum term of at least 6 months imprisonment.
- The Council may therefore continue to authorise the use of directed surveillance in more serious cases as long as the other tests are met, i.e. that it is necessary and proportionate and where approval from a JP has been granted. Examples of cases where the offence being investigated attracts a maximum custodial sentence of 6 months or more could include more serious criminal damage, dangerous waste dumping and serious or serial benefit fraud.
- The Council may also continue to authorise the use of directed surveillance for the purpose of preventing or detecting specified criminal offences relating to the underage sale of alcohol and tobacco where the necessity and proportionality test is met and prior approval from a JP has been granted.

• The Council may not authorise the use of directed surveillance under RIPA to investigate disorder that does not involve criminal offences or to investigate low-level offences which may include, for example, littering, dog control and fly-posting.

8.5.1 Impact on Investigations

At the start of an investigation, Officers will need to satisfy themselves that what they are investigating is a criminal offence. Directed surveillance is an invasive technique and at the point it is decided whether or not to authorise its use it must be clear that the threshold is met and that it is necessary and proportionate to use it.

During the course of an investigation the type and seriousness of offences may change. The option of authorising directed surveillance is dependent on the offence under investigation attracting a sentence of a maximum 6 months imprisonment or more or being related to the underage sale of alcohol and tobacco. Providing the offence under investigation is one which appears on the statute book with at least a maximum 6 months term of imprisonment or is related to the specific offences listed in the order concerning the underage sale of alcohol and tobacco an application can be made. However, if during the investigation it becomes clear that the activity being investigated does not amount to a criminal offence or that it would be a less serious offence that does not meet the threshold, the use of directed surveillance should cease. If a directed surveillance authorisation is already in force it should be cancelled.

Directed surveillance will be authorised against a specific offence which meets the threshold, and the type and the timing of the deployment of the surveillance will always reflect this. There may be cases where it is possible, with the same evidence obtained by the same deployment, to substantiate a variety of different charges, some of which fall below the threshold, it will be for the Courts too decide whether to admit, and what weight to attach to, the evidence obtained in the lesser charges.

The Council will no longer be able to use directed surveillance in some cases where it was previously authorised. But this does not mean that it will no be possible to investigate these areas with a view to stopping offending behaviour. The statutory RIPA Code of Practice makes it clear that routine patrols, observation at trouble 'hotspots', immediate response to events and overt use of CCTV are all techniques which do not require RIPA authorisation.

8.6 Intrusive Surveillance

- 8.6.1 This is when it:-
 - is covert;
 - relates to residential premises and private vehicles; and

• involves the presence of a person in the premises or in the vehicle or is carried out by a surveillance device in the premises/vehicle. Surveillance equipment mounted outside the premise will not be intrusive, unless the device consistently provides information of the same quality and detail as might be expected if they were in the premises/vehicle.

8.6.2 This form of surveillance can be carried out only by Police and other law enforcement agencies. Council Officers must not carry out intrusive surveillance.

8.7 **Proportionality**

- 8.7.1 Proportionality is a key concept of the Act. If the activities are deemed necessary, the person granting the authorisation must also believe that they are proportionate to what is sought to be achieved by carrying them out. This involves balancing the seriousness of the intrusion into the privacy of the subject of the operation (or any other person who may be affected) against the need for the activity in investigative and operational terms.
- 8.7.2 The term incorporates four concepts:
 - the means should not be excessive in relation to the gravity of the mischief being investigated;
 - the least intrusive means of surveillance should be chosen; and
 - collateral intrusion involves invasion of third parties privacy and should, so far as is possible, be minimised; and
 - the activity must be proportionate to the degree of target on others.
- 8.7.3 When assessing proportionality, the following four elements of proportionality must be fully considered:
 - balancing the size and scope of the operation against the gravity and extent of the perceived mischief,
 - explaining how and why the methods to be adopted will cause the least possible intrusion on the targets and others,
 - that the activity is an appropriate use of the legislation and the only reasonable way, having considered all others, of obtaining the necessary result, and
 - providing evidence of other methods considered and why they were not implemented. [Note 74.4 OSC's 2014 Procedures and Guidance document]
- 8.7.4 Extra care should be taken over any publication of the product of the surveillance.

9. <u>Authorisations (See flowchart at Appendix D)</u>

9.1 Applications for directed surveillance

All application forms (<u>see Appendix F</u>) must be fully completed with the required details to enable the Authorising Officer to make an informed decision. The description of the proposed operation should be full and detailed, specifying any equipment to be used. The use of maps or sketches to show for example observation posts and target premises should also be considered.

No authorisation shall be granted unless the Authorising Officer is satisfied that the investigation is:

- <u>necessary</u> for one of the reasons listed above
- proportionate to the ultimate objective
- at an <u>appropriate</u> level (i.e. not excessive)

and that no other form of investigation would be appropriate.

Section 32(5) of RIPA requires the Authorising Officers to describe and specify what he is granting. This may or not be the same as requested by the applicant. For the benefit of those operating under the terms of an authorisation, or any person who may subsequently review or inspect an authorisation, it is essential to produce, with clarity, a description of that which is being authorised (i.e. who, what, where, when and how). Authorising Officers should as a matter of routine state explicitly and in his own words what is being authorised, and against which subjects, property or location. Mere reference to the terms of the application is inadequate. [Note 116 OSC Procedures and Guidance 2010].

Authorising Officers must be careful in the use of 'or' and 'and' in order not to restrict what is intended. For example, do not use 'or' when 'and' is meant (e.g. deployment ofon vehicle A or vehicle B' limits deployment to either vehicle, not both simultaneously or one after the other). [Note 118 OSC Procedures and Guidance 2010].

The Authorising Officer's statement should be completed in handwriting as a personal contemporaneous record of the thinking which justified the authorisation.

Authorising Officers should set out, in his own words, why he is satisfied or why he believes (RIPA) the activity is necessary and proportionate. A bare assertion is insufficient. [Note 75 OSC's 2014 Procedures and Guidance document].

9.1.1 <u>Necessity</u>: Covert surveillance cannot be said to be necessary if the desired information can reasonably be obtained by overt means. It must also be necessary for the purpose of preventing or detecting crime or of preventing disorder.

Authorising Officers must be satisfied that the use of covert surveillance is necessary for one of the purposes specified in section 28(3) of RIPA. In order to be satisfied, the conduct that it is aimed to prevent or detect must be identified and clearly described, particularly if it is questionable whether Page 25 of 72

serious crime criteria are met. Often missed is an explanation of why it is necessary to use the covert techniques requested. [Note 72 OSC's 2014 Procedures and Guidance document].

9.1.2 <u>Proportionality</u>: The method of surveillance proposed must not be excessive in relation to the seriousness of the matter under investigation. It must be the method which is the least invasive of the target's privacy.

Proportionality should be carefully explained, not merely asserted, nor is describing parts of the operation itself germane to proportionality.

A potential model answer would make clear that the four elements of proportionality had been fully considered:

- 1. balancing the size and scope of the operation against the gravity and extent of the perceived mischief;
- 2. explaining how and why the methods to be adopted will cause the least possible intrusion on the target and others;
- 3. that the activity is an appropriate use of the legislation and the only reasonable way, having considered all others, of obtaining the necessary result; and
- 4. providing evidence of other methods considered and why they were not implemented. [Note 72 OSC's 2014 Procedures and Guidance document].

An authorisation should demonstrate how an authorising officer has reached the conclusion that the activity is proportionate to what it seeks to achieve, including an explanation of the reasons why the method, tactic or technique proposed is not disproportionate (the proverbial 'sledgehammer to crack a nut'). Proportionality is not only about balancing the effectiveness of covert methods but of explaining why the particular covert method, technique or tactic is least intrusive. It is insufficient to make a simple assertion or to say that the 'seriousness' of the crime justifies any or every method available. [Note 105 OSC Procedures and Guidance 2010]

The Authorising Officer should set out in his own words, why he believes the activity is necessary and proportionate. A bare assertion is insufficient. [Note 75 OSC's 2014 Procedures and Guidance document].

To assist an Authorising Officer to reach a proper judgment, the value of the date, information or intelligence on which the application has been made should be made clear. It is considered best practice for law enforcement agencies to utilise standard evaluation nomenclature which grades both the source and the information. While it is not necessary or desirable in the application to spell out in detail the content of intelligence logs, cross-referencing to these enables an Authorising Officer to check detail. Particular care should be taken when using date or information obtained from open or unevaluated sources such as the Internet or social networks. [Note 76 OSC's 2014 Procedures and Guidance document].

The law prevents an applicant or Authorising Officer from referring to interception and this presents significant difficulty when covert surveillance is to be based solely on that type of intelligence. Without product derived

from other acquisition methods, or an approved summary of the closed material, covert surveillance cannot be authorised. [Note 77 OSC's 2014 Procedures and Guidance document].

9.1.3 <u>Collateral intrusion</u>, which affects the privacy rights of innocent members of the public, must be minimised and use of the product of the surveillance carefully controlled so as to respect those rights.

This note applies to directed surveillance only. To comply with R vSutherland the Authorising Officer should clearly set out what activity and surveillance equipment is authorised in order that those conducting the surveillance are clear on what has been sanctioned at each stage in the authorisation process. It is recognised that it is not always possible, at the outset of an investigation, to foresee how it will progress, but this should not provide a reason for the applicants to request a wide number of tactics 'just in case' they are later needed. The Authorising Officer may not authorise more than can be justified at the time of their decision and should demonstrate control and a proper understanding of necessity, collateral intrusion and proportionality, relating to each tactic requested. In straightforward cases, an applicant should request only the tactics that are known to be available and intended to be used. In more complex cases, where it is foreseen based on operational experience and assessed intelligence that additional tactics may be required as the investigation develops, additional tactics may be requested by way of review. The Authorising Officer should consider the use made of tactics to date, along with their impact and any product, to ensure that each additional tactic is necessary, whether collateral intrusion can be justified, and whether the cumulative effect of the tactics is proportionate in light of progress. Amendment must be explicit and no tactic may be used prior to it being granted by an Authorising Officer. OSC inspections will place significant emphasis on review and renewal procedures to ensure that Authorising Officers are addressing legal requirements throughout the life of an authorisation. [Note 98 OSC's 2014 Procedures and Guidance document].

It is unlikely to be regarded as 'not reasonably practicable' for an Authorising Officer to consider an application, unless he is too ill to give attention, on annual leave, is absent from his office and his home, or is for some reason not able within a reasonable time frame to obtain access to a secure telephone or fax machine. Pressure of work is not to be regarded as rendering it impracticable for Authorising Officers to consider an application. [Note 103 OSC's 2014 Procedures and Guidance document].

Advice should be sought from the Legal Services Section on any issues of concern.

Authorising Officers must also take into account the risk of <u>'collateral</u> <u>intrusion</u>' i.e. intrusion on, or interference with, the privacy of persons other than the subject of the investigation. The application must include an <u>assessment</u> of any risk of collateral intrusion for this purpose.

Steps must be taken to avoid unnecessary collateral intrusion and minimise any necessary intrusion.

Those carrying out the investigation must inform Authorising Officers of any unexpected interference with the privacy of individuals who are not covered by the authorisation, as soon as these become apparent.

Where such collateral intrusion is unavoidable, the activities may still be authorised, provided this intrusion is considered proportionate to what is sought to be achieved.

9.1.4 The retention of applications with 'wet signatures'

The key signature is that of the Authorising Officer on the authorisation. The only way it is possible to establish that the Authorising Officer has applied his own mind to the authorisation is it is handwritten by him. Typed documents are open to the suggestion that the authorisation is prepared by another and simply signed by the Authorising Officer. If information technology is used to construct applications and authorisations, it must be capable of authentication, hand-written (so-called 'wet') signatures are required to avoid accusation that the authorisation has been altered ex post facto. If an Authorising Officer relies on words prepared by another, his signature signifies responsibility for those words. Authorisations with wet signatures may be retained by the Authorising Officer or centrally, the latter being the preferred option. It is always open to a trial judge to require evidence which satisfies him that documents relied on are authentic. All public authorities must be ready to provide the relevant witness where authenticity is open to question. [Note 115 OSC's 2014 Procedures and Guidance document].

9.1.5 Special consideration in respect of confidential information

Particular attention is drawn to areas where the subject of surveillance may reasonably expect a high degree of privacy e.g. where confidential information is involved.

Confidential information consists of matters subject to <u>legal privilege</u>, <u>communication between a Member of Parliament and another person on</u> <u>constituency matters</u>, <u>confidential personal information</u> or <u>confidential</u> <u>journalistic material</u>. (ss 98-100 Police Act 1997)

(ss 98-100 Police Act 1997)

Legal privilege

Generally, this applies to communications between an individual and his/her legal adviser in connection with the giving of legal advice in connection with or in contemplation of legal proceedings. Such information is unlikely ever to be admissible as evidence in criminal proceedings.

If in doubt, the advice of the RIPA Co-ordinating Officer should be sought in respect of any issues in this area.

Confidential personal information

This is oral or written information held in (express or implied) confidence, relating to the physical or mental health or spiritual counselling concerning an individual (alive or dead) who can be identified from it. Specific examples provided in the codes of practice are consultations between a health professional and a patient, discussions between a minister of religion and an individual relating to the latter's <u>spiritual welfare</u> or matters of <u>medical or journalistic confidentiality</u>.

Confidential journalistic material

This is material acquired or created for the purposes of journalism and held subject to an undertaking to hold it in confidence.

It should be noted that matters considered to be confidential under the Act may not necessarily be properly regarded as confidential under section 41 Freedom of Information Act.

Where such information is likely to be acquired, the surveillance may only be authorised by the Chief Executive, or whoever deputises for him in his absence, and should only be authorised where there are exceptional and compelling circumstances that make the authorisation necessary.

9.1.6 Notifications to Inspector/Commissioner

The following situations must be brought to the inspector/commissioner's attention at the next inspection:

- Where an officer has had to authorise surveillance in respect of an investigation in which he/she is directly involved.
- Where a lawyer is the subject of an investigation or operation;
- Where confidential personal information or confidential journalistic information has been acquired and retained.

9.1.7 Applications for CHIS

Same as for directed surveillance except that the authorisation must specify the activities and identity of the CHIS and that the authorised conduct is carried out for the purposes of, or in connection with, the investigation or operation so specified.

There are additional requirements in s29(5) of the Act relating to responsibility for dealing with the source and maintenance of records relating to the source.

All application forms (see <u>Appendix G</u>) must be fully completed with the required details to enable Authorising Officers to make an informed decision.

There should be a controller, a handler and recorder for a CHIS together with the requirement for a risk assessment if one is to be employed. Page 29 of 72 The handler will have day to day responsibility for:-

- dealing with the CHIS;
- directing the day to day activities of the CHIS;
- recording the information supplied by the CHIS; and
- monitoring the CHIS's welfare and security

The handler of a CHIS will usually be of a rank or position below that of the Authorising Officer.

The controller will normally be responsible for the management and supervision of the handler and general oversight of the CHIS.

In addition to the requirements of the Act the duties set out in the RIP Source Records Regulations (S.I.2000/2725) must also be observed.

Any officer considering applying for a CHIS should consult the RIPA Co-ordinating Officer before taking any practical steps.

10. Social Networking Sites (SNS) and Hotlines

The use of the internet may be required to gather information prior to and/or during an investigation, and this may amount to directed surveillance. Where there is an intention to use the internet as part of an investigation, consideration must be given as to whether the proposed activity is likely to interfere with a person's Article 8 rights, including the effect of any collateral intrusion. Any activity likely to interfere with an individual's Article 8 rights should only be used when necessary and proportionate to meet the objectives of a specific case. Where it is considered that private information is likely to be obtained, an authorisation must be sought. Where an investigating Officer may need to communicate covertly online, for example, contacting individuals using social media websites, a CHIS authorisation should be considered.

- Officers must not create a false identity in order to 'friend' individuals on social networks.
- Officers viewing an individual's profile on a social network should do so only once in order to obtain evidence to support or refute their investigation.
- Further viewing of open profiles on social networks, to gather evidence or to monitor an individual's status, must only take place once RIPA authorisation has been granted and approved by a JP.
- Officers should be aware that it may not be possible to verify the accuracy of information on social networks and, if such information is to be used as evidence, take reasonable steps to ensure its validity.

Officers should also be aware of the risks of 'status drift' whereby a hotline informant, who initially supplies information in a manner not requiring authorisation, has developed inadvertently into a CHIS. In such a case CHIS relationship is formed invoking the procedures set out above.

The fact that digital investigation is routine or easy to conduct does not reduce the need for authorisation. Care must be taken to understand how the SNS being used works. Authorising Officers must not be tempted to assume that one service provider is the same as another or that the services provided by a single provider are the same. [Note 288 OSC's 2014 Procedures and Guidance document].

Whilst it is the responsibility of an individual to set privacy settings to protect unsolicited access to private information, and even though data may be deemed published and no longer under the control of the author, it is unwise to regard it as 'open source' or publicly available; the author has a reasonable expectation of privacy if access controls are applied. In some cases data may be deemed private communication still in transmission (instant messages for example). Where privacy settings are available but not applied the data may be considered open source and an authorisation is not usually required. repeat viewing of 'open source' sites may constitute directed surveillance on a case by case basis and this should be borne in mind. [Note 288.1 OSC's 2014 Procedures and Guidance document].

Providing there is no warrant authorising interception in accordance with section 48(4) of the 2000 Act, if it necessary and proportionate for a public authority to breach covertly access controls, the minimum requirement is an authorisation for directed surveillance. An authorisation for the use and conduct of a CHIS is necessary if a relationship is established or maintained by a member of a public authority or by a person acting on its behalf (i.e. the activity is more than mere reading of the site's content). [Note 288.2 OSC's 2014 Procedures and Guidance document].

It is not unlawful for a member of a public authority to set up a false identity but it is inadvisable for a member of a public authority to do so for a covert purpose without authorisation. Using photographs of other persons without their permission to support the false identity infringes other laws. [Note 288.3 OSC's 2014 Procedures and Guidance document].

A member of a public authority should not adopt the identity of a person known, or likely to be known, to the subject of interest or users of the site without the consent of the person whose identity is used, and without considering the protection of that person. The consent must be explicit (i.e. the person from whom consent is sought must agree (preferably in writing) what is and is not to be done. [Note 288.4 OSC's 2014 Procedures and Guidance document].

11. Judicial Approval

In order to authorise the use of directed surveillance, acquisition of communications data and use of a CHIS under RIPA, the Council will need to obtain an Order approving the grant or renewal of an authorisation from a JP before it can take effect. If the JP is satisfied that the statutory Page 31 of 72

tests have been met and that the use of the technique is necessary and proportionate he/she will issue an Order approving the grant or renewal for the use of the technique as described in the application.

Judicial approval is in addition to the existing authorisation process under the relevant parts of RIPA as outlined in the Codes of Practice. The process of assessing necessity and proportionality, completing the RIPA authorisation/application form and seeking approval from an Authorising Officer remains the same.

11.1 **Procedure for Applying for Judicial Approval**

11.1.1 <u>Making the Application</u>

The flowchart at **Appendix E** outlines the procedure for applying for judicial approval. The application must be made by the Council. Following approval by the Authorising Officer the first stage of the process is for the local authority to contact Her Majesty's Courts and Tribunals Service administration team at the Magistrates Court to arrange a hearing.

The Council will need to provide the JP with a copy of the original RIPA authorisation or notice and the supporting documents setting out the case. This forms the basis of the application to the JP and should contain all information that is relied upon. For communications data requests the RIPA authorisation or notice may seek to acquire consequential acquisition of specific subscriber information. The necessity and proportionality of acquiring consequential acquisition will be assessed by the JP as part of his/her consideration.

The original RIPA authorisation or notice should be shown to the JP but will be retained by the Council so that it is available for inspection by the Commissioners' offices and in the event of any legal challenge or investigation by the Investigatory Powers Tribunal. The Court may wish to take a copy.

In addition, the Council will provide the JP with a partially completed judicial application/order form (**Appendix K**).

Although the Council is required to provide a brief summary of the circumstances of the case on the judicial application form, this is supplementary to and does not replace the need to supply the original RIPA authorisation as well.

The order section of the form will be completed by the JP and will be the official record of the JP's decision. The Council will need to obtain judicial approval for all initial RIPA authorisations/applications and renewals and the Council will need to retain a copy of the judicial application/order form after it has been signed by the JP. There is no requirement for the JP to consider either cancellations or internal reviews.

Legal Services will contact the Magistrates Court to arrange a hearing. On the rare occasions where out of hours access to a JP is required then it will be for Legal Services to make arrangements with Court legal staff.

11.1.2 <u>Attending a Hearing</u>

The hearing is a 'legal proceeding' and Council Officers need to be formally designated to appear, be sworn in and present evidence or provide information as required by the JP.

The hearing will be held in private and heard by a single JP who will read and consider the RIPA authorisation or notice and the judicial application/order form. He/she may have questions to clarify points or require additional reassurance on particular matters.

The investigating/Authorising Officer will need to answer the JP's questions on the policy and practice of conducting covert operations and detail of the case itself. The investigating Officer will have detailed knowledge of the investigation and will have determined that use of a covert technique is required in order to progress a particular case. This does not, however, remove or reduce in any way the duty of the Authorising Officer to determine whether the tests of necessity and proportionality have been met, Similarly, it does not remove or reduce the need for the forms and supporting papers that the Authorising Officer has considered and which have been provided to the JP to make the case.

A Legal Officer will also be in attendance at court.

The Commissioners consider the best officer to apply to the magistrate for approval of an authorisation of directed surveillance or CHIS is the Authorising Officer, though they recognise this is not always possible. Only he can answer questions about his reasoning on necessity, proportionality, collateral intrusion and risk. [Note 291 of the OSC's 2014 Procedures and Guidance document]

If the Authorising Officer is not present before the magistrate, any comments made by the magistrate should be promptly reported to him. Such comments might affect the future conduct of the authorised activity, its duration and the regularity of reviews. A record should be made of such comments and of the action taken by the Authorising Officer to incorporate or address them. [Note 292 of the OSC's 2014 Procedures and Guidance document].

An authorisation of directed surveillance or CHIS does not take effect until it has been approved and signed by the magistrate. Local authorities should record the dates and times of signature by both the Authorising Officer and the magistrate. Care should be taken to record the expiry date accurately thereafter. [Note 293 of the OSC's 2014 Procedures and Guidance document].

Local authorities in England and Wales should also bear in mind that the power to make urgent oral authorisations has been removed, because section 43(1)(a) of RIPA no longer applices to authorisations requiring a magistrate's approval. All authorisations, even if urgent, must be made in writing, and local authorities' RIPA policy documents should make this clear. [Note 294 of the OSC's 2014 Procedures and Guidance document]. Page 33 of 72

11.1.3 Decision

The JP will consider whether he/she is satisfied that at the time the authorisation was granted or renewed or the notice was given or renewed, there were reasonable grounds for believing that the authorisation or notice was necessary and proportionate. They will also consider whether there continues to be reasonable grounds. In addition they must be satisfied that that the person who granted the authorisation or gave the notice was an appropriate designated person within the Council and the authorisation was made in accordance with any applicable legal restrictions, for example that the crime threshold for directed surveillance has been met.

The forms and supporting papers must by themselves make the case. It is not sufficient for the local authority to provide oral evidence where this is not reflected or supported in the papers provided. The JP may note on the form any additional information he or she has received during the course of the hearing but information fundamental to the case should not be submitted in this manner.

If further information is required to determine whether the authorisation or notice has met the tests then the JP will refuse the authorisation. If an application is refuse the Council should consider whether they can reapply, for example, if there was information to support the application which was available to the Council, but not included in the papers provided at the hearing.

The JP will record his/her decision on the order section of the judicial application/order form. The Magistrates Court will retain a copy of the Councils RIPA authorisation or notice and the judicial application/order form. This information will be retained securely. Magistrates' Courts are not public authorities for the purposes of the Freedom of Information Act 2000.

The Council will need to provide a copy of the order to the communications Single Point of Contact for all communication data requests. Single Points of Contact must not acquire the communication data requested, until the JP has signed the order approving the grant.

11.1.4 Outcomes

Following consideration of the case the JP will complete the order section of the judicial application/order form recording their decision. The JP may decide to:

• Approve the Grant or renewal of an authorisation notice.

The grant or renewal of the RIPA authorisation or notice will then take effect and the local authority may proceed to use the technique in that particular case.

In relation to communications data, the Council will be responsible for providing a copy of the Order or the Single Point of Contact.

- Refuse to approve the grant or renewal of an authorisation or notice. The RIPA authorisation or notice will not take effect and the Council may not use the technique in that case.
 Where an application has been refused the Council may wish to consider the reasons for refusal. For example, a technical error in the form may be remedied without the local authority going through the internal authorisation process again. The Council may then wish to reapply for judicial approval once those steps have been taken.
- Refuse to approve the grant or renewal and quash the authorisation or notice.

This applies where a Magistrates Court refuses to approve the grant, giving or renewal of an authorisation or notice and decides to quash the original authorisation or notice.

The court must not exercise its power to quash that authorisation or notice unless the applicant has had at least 2 business days from the date of refusal in which to make representations.

11.1.5 Complaints/Judicial Review

There is no complaint route for a judicial decision unless it was made in bad faith. Any complaints should be addressed to the Magistrates Advisory Committee.

The Council may only appeal a JP decision on a point of law by judicial review.

The Investigatory Powers Tribunal will continue to investigate complaints about the use of RIPA techniques by public bodies, including local authorities. If, following a complaint to them, the Tribunal does find fault with a RIPA authorisation or notice it has the power to quash the JP's order which approved the grant or renewal of the authorisation or notice.

12. <u>Working With/Through Other Agencies</u>

When some other agency has been instructed <u>on behalf of the Council</u> to undertake any action under the Act, this document must be used (as per normal procedure) and the agency advised or kept informed, as necessary, of the various requirements. They must be made aware explicitly what they are authorised to do.

When some other agency (e.g. Police, Customs & Excise, Inland Revenue, etc.):-

(a) wish to use the Council's <u>resources</u> (e.g. CCTV surveillance systems), that agency must use its own RIPA procedures <u>and</u>, before any officer agrees to allow the Council's resources to be used for the other agency's purposes, s/he <u>must obtain</u> a copy of that agency's RIPA form for the record (a copy of which must be passed to the RIPA Co-ordinating Officer for the RIPA Central Register) and/or Page 35 of 72 relevant extracts from the same which are sufficient for the purposes of protecting the Council and the use of its resources;

(b) wish to use the Council's premises for their own RIPA action, the officer should, normally, co-operate with the same, unless there are security or other good operational or managerial reasons as to why the Council's premises should not be used for the agency's activities. Suitable insurance or other appropriate indemnities may be sought, if necessary, from the other agency for the Council's co-operation in the agent's RIPA operation, In such cases, however, the Council's own RIPA forms should not be used as the Council is only 'assisting' not being 'involved' in the RIPA activity of the external agency.

In terms of 2(a), if the Police or other Agency wish to use Council resources for <u>general</u> surveillance, as opposed to specific RIPA operations, an appropriate letter requesting the proposed use, extent of remit, duration, who will be undertaking the general surveillance and the purpose of it must be obtained from the Police or other Agency <u>before</u> any Council resources are made available for the proposed use. Copies of letters should be sent to the RIPA Co-ordinating Officer for retention.

13. <u>Duration and Cancellation</u>

- An authorisation for <u>directed surveillance</u> shall cease to have effect (if not renewed) 3 months from the date of grant or renewal.
- An authorisation for <u>CHIS</u> shall cease to have effect (unless renewed) 12 months from the date of grant or renewal.

If the proposed operation is expected to be completed quickly, then an early review should take place and Authorising Officers, in accordance with s.45 of the Act, must cancel each authorisation as soon as Authorising Officers decide that the surveillance should be discontinued.

It is a statutory requirement that authorisations are cancelled as soon as they are no longer required. [Note 138 OSC Procedures and Guidance 2010].

The fact that the operation to which authorisation relates is only expected to last for a short time cannot affect the authorisation period. An early review can take care of issues of continuing necessity and proportionality. [Note 119 OSC Procedures and Guidance 2010].

Documentation of any instruction to cease surveillance should be retained and kept with the cancellation form.

When cancelling an authorisation, Authorising Officers should:

- 1. Record the time and date (if at all) that surveillance took place and the order to cease the activity was made.
- 2. The reason for cancellation.
- 3. Ensure that surveillance equipment has been removed and returned.
- 4. Provide directions for the management of the product.
- 5. Ensure that detail of property interfered with, or persons subjected to surveillance, since the last review or renewal is properly recorded.
- 6. Record the value of the surveillance or interference (i.e. whether the objectives as set in the authorisation were met). [Note 141 OSC Procedures and Guidance 2010].

A Surveillance Commissioner and Authorising Officers can only authorise on the basis of what they have been told. Issues of disclosure should not inhibit the proper construction of applications and authorisations but can be dealt with at the appropriate time using existing procedures. Where necessary, authorisations should cross-refer to the intelligence report. [Note 144 OSC Procedures and Guidance 2010].

To comply with R V Sutherland Authorising Officers should clearly set out what activity and surveillance equipment is authorised in order that those conducting the surveillance are clear on what has been sanctioned. [Note 145 OSC Procedures and Guidance 2010].

14. <u>Reviews</u>

Authorising Officers should review all authorisations at intervals determined by him/herself. This should be as often as necessary and practicable. **The reviews should be recorded.** If it is anticipated that the surveillance period will be short, an early review should be carried out and the authorisation subsequently cancelled.

If the directed surveillance authorisation provides for the surveillance of unidentified individuals whose identity is later established, the terms of the authorisation should be refined at review to include the identity of these individuals. It would be appropriate to call a review specifically for this purpose.

Reviews and renewals should not broaden the scope of the investigation but can reduce its terms. Where other subjects may unexpectedly come under surveillance, authorisations can anticipate it by using words such as 'suspected of', 'believed to be' or 'this authority is intended to include conversations between any and all of the subjects of this investigation, including those whose identities are not yet known'. [Note 125 OSC Procedures and Guidance 2010].

Particular attention should be paid to the possibility of obtaining confidential information.

15. <u>Renewals</u>

Authorising Officers may renew an existing authorisation on the same terms as the original at any time before the original ceases to have effect.

A CHIS authorisation must be thoroughly reviewed before it is renewed.

16. <u>Central Register of Authorisations</u>

- 16.1 All authorities must maintain the following documents:
 - Copy of the application and a copy of the authorisation together with any supplementary documentation and notification of the approval given by Authorising Officers;
 - A record of the period over which the surveillance has taken place;
 - The frequency of reviews prescribed by Authorising Officers;
 - A record of the result of each review of the authorisation;
 - A copy of any renewal of an authorisation and supporting documentation submitted when the renewal was requested;
 - The date and time when any instruction to cease surveillance was given;
 - The date and time when any other instruction was given by Authorising Officers.
- 16.2 To comply with paragraph 16.1 above, the RIPA Co-ordinating Officer holds the central register of all authorisations issued by officers of South Derbyshire District Council. A copy of every authorisation, renewal and cancellation issued should be lodged within 2 working days with the RIPA Co-ordinating Officer in an envelope marked 'Private and Confidential'.
- 16.3 The Council must also maintain a centrally retrievable record of the following information:
 - type of authorisation
 - date the authorisation was given
 - name and rank/grade of the Authorising Officer
 - unique reference number of the investigation/operation
 - title (including brief description and names of the subjects) of the investigation/operation;
 - whether urgency provisions were used, & if so why
 - details of renewal
 - whether the investigation/operation is likely to result in obtaining confidential information
 - whether the authorisation was granted by an individual directly involved in the investigation
 - date of cancellation

These records will be retained for at least 3 years and will be available for inspection by the OSC.

17. <u>Retention of records</u>

The Authority must ensure that arrangements are in place for the secure handling, storage and destruction of materials obtained through the use of directed surveillance. The Authorising Officers, through their relevant Data Controller, must ensure compliance with the appropriate data protection requirements under the Data Protection Act 1998 and any relevant codes of practice relating to the handling and storage of material.

The Central Register of Authorisations will be kept securely in a locked cabinet in the Legal Services Section.

18. <u>Complaints procedure</u>

- 18.1 The Council will maintain the standards set out in this guidance and the Codes of Practice (<u>See Appendices A and B</u>). The Chief Surveillance Commissioner has responsibility for monitoring and reviewing the way the Council exercises the powers and duties conferred by the Act.
- 18.2 Contravention of the Data Protection Act 1998 may be reported to the Information Commissioner. Before making such a reference, a complaint concerning a breach of this Policy and Guidance document should be made using the Council's own internal complaints procedure. To request a complaints form, please contact the Complaints Officer, South Derbyshire District Council, Civic Offices, Civic Way, Swadlincote, Derbyshire, DE11 0AH or telephone 01283 595784.

REGULATION OF INVESTIGATORY POWERS ACT 2000

<u>GUIDANCE – PART II</u>

ACQUISITION AND DISCLOSURE OF COMMUNICATIONS DATA

Introduction

With effect from 5 January 2004, and in accordance with Chapter I of Part I of Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act ('the Act'), local authorities can authorise the acquisition and disclosure of 'communications data' provided that the acquisition of such data is <u>necessary</u> for the purpose of **preventing or detecting crime or preventing disorder**; and <u>proportionate</u> to what is sought to be achieved by acquiring such data

Following implementation of sections 37 and 38 of the Protection of Freedoms Act 2012, from 1st November 2012 the acquisition of communications data will be subject to obtaining an Order approving the authorisation or notice from a JP. (Please revert to the 'Judicial Approval' section of this document at page 18)

There is a Code of Practice (Appendix H) ('the Code')

NOTHING IN THIS CODE PERMITS THE INTERCEPTION OF THE CONTENT OF ANY COMMUNICATION.

The procedure is similar to that of authorisation for directed surveillance and CHIS but has extra provisions and processes.

The purpose and effect of the procedure is the same i.e. to ensure proper consideration is given to permitting such investigations and to provide protection against a human rights challenge.

The Authorising Officer is called a 'designated person'.

1. <u>What is 'Communications data'?</u>

Communications data is information relating to the use of a communications service e.g. postal service or telecommunications system. It is defined by Section 21(4) of the Act and falls into three main categories: -

<u>Traffic data</u> - where a communication was made from, to whom and when

<u>Service data</u> – use made of service e.g. Itemised telephone records <u>Subscriber data</u> – information held or obtained by operator on person they provide a service to.

Local authorities are restricted to subscriber and service use data and only for the purpose of preventing or detecting crime or preventing disorder.

2. <u>Designated person</u>

A Designated Person must be at least the level of Unit Manager.

3. <u>Application forms</u>

All applications must be made on a standard form (<u>Appendix I</u>) and submitted to the single point of contact ("SPOC"). The SPOC will ensure that the application meets the required criteria and then pass to the Designated Person.

4. <u>Authorisations</u>

Authorisations can only authorise conduct to which Chapter II of Part I of the Act applies.

In order to comply with the Code, a Designated Person can only authorise the obtaining and disclosure of communications data if:

- (i) it is <u>necessary</u> for any of the purposes set out in Section 22(2) of the Act. (NB South Derbyshire District Council can only authorise for the purpose set out in Section 22 (2) (b) which is the purpose of preventing or detecting crime or preventing disorder); and
- (ii) it is **proportionate** to what is sought to be achieved by the acquisition of such data (in accordance with Section 22(5) of the Act)

Consideration must also be given to the possibility of <u>collateral intrusion</u> and whether any <u>urgent timescale is justified</u>.

Once a Designated Person has decided to grant an authorisation or a notice given there are two methods: -

- (1) By authorisation of some person in the same relevant public authority as the designated person, whereby the relevant public authority collects the data itself (Section 22(3) of the Act). This may be appropriate in the following circumstances:
 - The postal or telecommunications operator is not capable of collecting or retrieving the communications data.
 - It is believed the investigation may be prejudiced if the postal or telecommunications operator is asked to collect the data itself;
 - There is a prior agreement in place between the relevant public authority and the postal or telecommunications operator as to the appropriate mechanisms for the disclosure of communications data.
 Page 41 of 72

(2) By notice to the holder of the data to be acquired (Section 22(4) of the Act) which requires the operator to collect or retrieve the data. Disclosure may only be required to either the Designated Person or the single point of contact.

Service provider must comply with the notice if it is reasonably practicable to do so (s.22 (6)-(8) of the Act) and can be enforced to do so by civil proceedings.

The postal or telecommunications service can charge for providing this information.

There are standard forms (<u>Appendix I</u>) for authorisations and notice.

5. <u>Oral authority</u>

South Derbyshire District Council is not permitted to apply or approve orally.

6. <u>Single point of contact ("SPOC")</u>

Notices and authorisations should be passed through a single point of contact within the Council. This should make the system operate more efficiently as the SPOC will deal with the postal or telecommunications operator on a regular basis and also be in a position to advise a designated person on the appropriateness of an authorisation or notice.

SPOCs should be in position to:

- Where appropriate, assess whether access to communications data is reasonably practical for the postal or telecommunications operator;
- Advise applicants and Designated Person on whether communications data falls under section 21(4)(a), (b) or (c) of the Act;
- Provide safeguards for authentication;
- Assess any cost and resource implications to both the public authority and the postal or telecommunications operator.

A SPOC must be accredited which involves undertaking appropriate training.

7. <u>Duration</u>

Authorisations and notices are only valid for one month beginning with the date on which the authorisation is granted or the notice given. A shorter period should be specified if possible.

Page 42 of 72

8. <u>Renewal and cancellation</u>

An authorisation or notice may be <u>renewed</u> at any time during the month it is valid using the same procedure as used in the original application. A renewal takes effect on the date which the authorisation or notice it is renewing expires.

The code requires that all authorisations and notices should be <u>cancelled</u> by the Designated Person who issued it as soon as it is no longer necessary, or the conduct is no longer proportionate to what is sought to be achieved. The relevant postal or telecommunications operator should be informed of the cancellation of a notice.

9. <u>Retention of records</u>

Applications, authorisations and notices must be retained until the Council has been audited by the Commissioner (see paragraph 10).

Applications must also be retained to allow the Tribunal (see paragraph 10 below) to carry out its functions.

A record must be kept of:-

- the dates on which the authorisation or notice is started or cancelled.
- any errors that have occurred in the granting of authorisations or giving of notices.

A report and explanation of any errors must also be sent to the Commissioner as soon as is practicable.

Communications data, and all copies, extracts and summaries of it, must be handled and stored securely and the requirements of the Data Protection Act 1998 must be observed.

The RIPA Co-ordinating Officer will maintain a centrally retrievable register.

10. <u>Oversight and Complaints</u>

The Act provides for an Interception of Communications Commissioner whose remit is to provide independent oversight of the use of the powers contained in Part I and the Code requires any person who uses the powers conferred by Part II to comply with any request made by the Commissioner to provide any information he requires to enable him to discharge his functions.

The Act also establishes an independent Tribunal to investigate and decide any case within its jurisdiction. Details of the relevant complaints procedure should be available for reference at South Derbyshire District Council's public offices. Page 43 of 72

APPENDIX A

Code of Practice

Covert Surveillance

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/384 975/Covert_Surveillance_Property_Interrefernce_web__2_.pdf

APPENDIX B

Code of Practice

Covert Human Intelligence Sources

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/fil e/384976/Covert_Human_Intelligence_web.pdf

APPENDIX C

Office of Surveillance Commissioners

Procedures & Guidance 2014

Please note:

There is no link to this document on the Office of Surveillance Commissioners' website, it is available from Legal Services in hard copy

APPENDIX D

DIRECTED SURVEILLANCE

Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000

Do you need Authorisation ?



APPENDIX E

LOCAL AUTHORITY PROCEDURE: APPLICATION TO A JUSTICE OF THE PEACE SEEKING AN ORDER TO APPROVE THE GRANT OF A RIPA AUTHORISATION OR NOTICE

Local authority investigator wants to use a RIPA technique (directed surveillance, CHIS (covert human intelligence source)or communications data)



Obtain signed order and retain original RIPA authorisation/notice.

For communication data authorisations or notices, local authority investigator to provide additional copy of judicial order to the SpoC. If out of hours, a copy of the signed order to be provided to the court the next working day.

37

APPENDIX F

<u>Forms</u>

Directed Surveillance

APPLICATION

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/application-for-use-of-directedsurveillance

REVIEW

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/review-of-use-of-directed-surveillance

CANCELLATION

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/cancellation-of-use-of-directedsurveillance-form

RENEWAL

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/renewal-form-for-directedsurveillance

APPENDIX G

Forms

Covert Human Intelligence Sources (CHIS)

APPLICATION

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/application-for-the-use-of-coverthuman-intelligence-sources-chis

REVIEW

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/reviewing-the-use-of-covert-humanintelligence-sources-chis

CANCELLATION

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/cancellation-of-covert-humanintelligence-sources-chis

RENEWAL

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/renewal-of-authorisation-to-usecovert-human-intelligence-sources

APPENDIX H

Code of Practice

Acquisition and Disclosure of Communications data

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/426 248/Acquisition_and_Disclosure_of_Communications_Data_Code_of_Practice_M arch_2015.pdf

APPENDIX I

Forms – Part I

Communications data

APPLICATION

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/chapter-ii-application-forcommunications-data

NOTICE TO COMMUNICATION SERVICE PROVIDER

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/specimen-part-i-chapter-ii-notice

APPENDIX J

Application for judicial approval for authorisation to obtain or disclose communications data, to use a covert human intelligence source or to conduct directed surveillance. Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000, sections 23A, 23B, 32A, 32B.

| ocal authority: | • |
|---|-----|
| ocal authority department: | • • |
| Offence under investigation: | |
| Address of premises or identity of subject: | |
| | |
| | |

Covert technique requested: (tick one and specify details)

| Communications Data | |
|----------------------------------|--|
| Covert Human Intelligence Source | |
| Directed Surveillance | |

Summary of details

| | | | | | • • • |
|------|------|------|------|------|-------|
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |

Note:

This application should be read in conjunction with the attached RIPA authorisation/RIPA application or notice.

| Investigating Officer: |
|--|
| Authorising Officer/Designated Person: |
| Officer(s) appearing before JP: |
| Address of applicant department: |
| |
| Contact telephone number: |
| |
| Contact telephone number: |

Order made on an application for judicial approval for authorisation to obtain or disclose communications data, to use a covert human intelligence source or to conduct directed surveillance. Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000, sections 23A, 23B, 32A, 32B.

Magistrates' court:

Having considered the application, I (tick one):



am satisfied that there are reasonable grounds for believing that the requirements of the Act were satisfied and remain satisfied, and that the relevant conditions are satisfied and I therefore approve the grant or renewal of the authorisation/notice.



refuse to approve the grant or renewal of the authorisation/notice.

refuse to approve the grant or renewal and quash the authorisation/notice.

Notes

Reasons

| | |
|------|--|
| | |

Signed:

Date:

Time:

Full Name:

Address of magistrates' court:

| REPORT TO: | OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE | AGENDA ITEM: 7 |
|----------------------------|--|------------------------|
| DATE OF MEETING: | 22 nd JUNE 2016 | CATEGORY: DELEGATED |
| REPORT FROM: | CHIEF EXECUTIVE | OPEN |
| MEMBERS' CONTACT POINT: | TOVE CECILIA LINDGREN (EXT: 5848) tove.lindgren@south-derbys.gov.uk | DOC: |
| SUBJECT: | ANNUAL REPORT OF THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 2015/16 | REF: N/A |
| WARD(S) AFFECTED: | ALL | |

1.0 Recommendation

1.1 That Members give further consideration to the Committee's Annual Report for 2015/16.

2.0 <u>Purpose of Report</u>

2.1 To submit the Annual Report of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee for 2015/16.

3.0 **Detail**

3.1 The draft Annual Report was considered at the Committee's meeting on 23rd March 2016. Members' feedback from that meeting have been incorporated in the updated report attached at Annexe A.

4.0 Financial / Corporate / Community Implications

4.1 None.

5.0 Background Papers

5.1 Annual Report 2015/16 attached as Annexe A

Annexe A



Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2015/16

Page 56 of 72

South Derbyshire Changing for the better



CONTENTS

| Ackr | nowledgment by the Chair of the Overview | Page 2 |
|------|--|-----------|
| & Sc | crutiny Committee | |
| 1. | Background | Page 3-5 |
| 1.1 | Purpose of the report | |
| 1.2 | Overview and Scrutiny has five broad functions | |
| 1.3 | Composition of Overview and Scrutiny Committee | |
| 1.4 | Main Purpose of the Committee | |
| 1.5 | Meetings | |
| 1.6 | Call-In of Policy Committee Decisions | |
| 2. | Specific Areas of Activity and Achievements | Page 6-10 |
| 2.1 | The Annual Report | |
| 2.2 | Setting the Committee Work Programme | |

3. What are our main Challenges for 2016 -2017? Page 11

Page 57 of 72



Acknowledgment

I am pleased to present this year's Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report, the report contains information about the key scrutiny activity over the past year

It has been a challenging year for the Council and also for scrutiny. The Council continues to face the challenge of delivering services to the people in South Derbyshire with less and less money and our Councillors involved with scrutiny had been tasked with analysing this work, its outcomes and providing constructive challenge.

As this Annual Report shows, a wide range of issues has been considered within the scrutiny process and this has given committee members the opportunity to be part of a forward-looking council that allows Scrutiny total freedom to monitor and review any issues it judges appropriate. This year has taken Scrutiny and Section 106 Contributions and Domiciliary Dental Provision into the community giving residents a chance to put questions to representatives from the Clinical Commissioning Group and NHS England about their local situation.

I would like to take this opportunity to thank in particular my Vice-Chair Councillor Stuart Swann, Kevin Stackhouse, Tony Sylvester, Tove Cecilia Lindgren and Chris Tyler for their invaluable support. I would also like to extend my thanks to everyone who attended or contributed to overview and scrutiny over the year. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee recognises and appreciates the valuable contributions that Elected Members, Officers and representatives of organisations have made towards its work, and acknowledges that without this support and co-operation, it could not fulfil its aim to improve services for the benefit of South Derbyshire residents.

Cllr. Mrs. Farrington

Councillor Mrs Gillian Farrington Chair of the Overview & Scrutiny Committee

Dago 58 of 72



1. Background

1.1 <u>Purpose of the Report</u>

This is the Annual Report to Council from Overview and Scrutiny, as required by Article 6 of the Council's Constitution.

Overview and Scrutiny (O & S) plays and important an active part in local government's decision-making process and is a principal way of achieving open, democratic accountability for the provision of public services. The aim of O & S is to improve public services and quality of life for local residents. Its main value is in holding the Council and other service providers to account, monitoring performance and in its capacity to inform and influence the actions of the Council and its partners. O & S is a legal requirement, which was introduced by the Local Government Act 2000; it was extended in later legislation, and was consolidated in the Localism Act of 2011. O & S allows Councillors to examine, question and evaluate various functions of the Council and other providers of public services on behalf of the public in an open and effective way.

The report outlines how the Overview and Scrutiny Committee has discharged its functions during the municipal year 2015/16 and details the current position and outcomes of its activities.

1.2 <u>Overview and Scrutiny has five broad functions:</u>

- Holding the Council and its statutory partners to account in the public interest. This enables more transparent and effective decision making. This includes the power to 'call-in' a decision made by one of the policy committees that has not yet been implemented.
- 2. Supporting effective policies and initiatives which have a beneficial impact on the community through policy review and development.



- Contributing to continuous improvement in services through monitoring quarterly departmental performance reports and the implementation of improvement plans.
- 4. Having a positive impact on the work and outcomes of external agencies and Providers of public services.
- 5. Aiding Councillors in engaging with their communities and playing the role of community representatives and leaders.

1.3 <u>Composition of Overview and Scrutiny Committee</u>

The Committee consists of eight Members, being five Members of the Conservative Group and three Members of the Labour Group in accordance with the political balance of the Council. For 2015/16, the following Members were appointed to the Committee:-

Conservative Group

Councillor Mrs. Farrington (Chair), Councillor Swann (Vice-Chair), Councillor Atkin, Councillor Mrs. Coe and Councillor Mrs. Patten

Labour Group

Councillor Bambrick, Councillor Dr. Pearson and Councillor Mrs. Stuart.

1.4 Main Purposes of Committee

The main purposes of the Committee are as follows:-

- (a) Write reports and/or make recommendations to Council, Policy Committees or Area Forums in connection with the formulation of Policy and the discharge of any functions.
- (b) Consider any matter affecting the District or its residents.



- (c) Review and/or scrutinise decisions made or actions taken in connection with the discharge of any of the Council's functions.
- (d) Exercise the Call-In procedure in respect of decisions made, but not yet implemented, by any Policy Committee or Area Forum.
- (e) Oversee the Best Value process and report findings to the relevant Policy Committee.

1.5 <u>Meetings</u>

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee usually meets every six weeks, on Wednesday evenings at the Council's Civic Offices, however when the needs arises to engage on a more direct level with the community, meetings have taken place across the district. Meetings are held in Open session, unless there are Exempt items for consideration by the Committee. Additional task groups can be set-up to undertake work on their behalf, this usually happens when there is a need to review a topic in greater depth.

1.6 <u>Call-In of Policy Committee Decisions</u>

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee has the power to determine 'call-in' requests of any policy committee decision made but not implemented. During the year 2015/16, the Committee was not required to deal with any 'called in' decisions or requests from Policy Committees for specific investigations. This meant that the Committee was able to focus on the coordination of work across the overview and scrutiny function within the Council and the wider community.



2. Specific Areas of Activity and Achievements

2.1 <u>The Annual Report</u>

In March 2016, the Committee considered the draft Annual Report for the 2015/16 Local Government Year, which looks at each of the priorities in turn and provides an overview of some of the outcomes achieved by the Committee and how it has discharged its function

2.2 Setting the Committee Work Programme

The Committee held a workshop in June 2015 outlining suggestions on how the Committee might identify and agree possible issues to form the basis of its Work Programme during the new Local Government Year. Members considered a range of possible topics for the Committee to consider, the Councillors responsible for each initial scoping exercise and in particular, what lines of enquiry they would like to cover. The key issues that the Committee looked at were:

- Section 106 Health Based NHS Contributions
- NHS Domiciliary Dental Service Provision
- Fibre-Optic Works by Sky
- Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act (RIPA) 2000
- Cemetery Provision
- Electoral Services
- Festival of Leisure
- Community Grant fund Process
- Housing Revenue Account Budget (HRA) 2015/16
- The Budget 2016/17
- Council Tax Arrears
- Work Programme 2016/17

A short summary of the Committee's work during the year is set out below

Page 62 of 72



Section 106 Health Based NHS Contributions

A substantial piece of work took place around Section 106 Contributions once the Committee had been made aware that there were a significant sum of Section 106 monies still with the CCG (Clinical Commissioning Group), though grants had already been allocated to specific local projects, few payments had been made. The Committee invited representatives from the Council's Planning Department

and the Clinical Commissioning Group to attend four public meetings around the district, each session detailing the background of Section 106 NHS contributions followed by a Questions & Answers (Q & A's) session involving both Committee Members and Members of the Public. The Committee resolved that the work undertaken in partnership with the Planning Department and Clinical Commissioning Group had made great progress, and allocated funds were in the process of being dispersed accordingly.

General Dental Provision and Domiciliary Dental Provision in South Derbyshire

When the report on local dentistry provision was initially conveyed to Committee to provide information on why there had been no local commissioning since 2006, it became evident that the facility for domiciliary dental care for the elderly and infirm was minimal. The Committee resolved that they would invite representatives from the NHS England to attend two Committee meetings and a Public Meeting to answer questions and get clarification on why these issues faced South Derbyshire and in particular, no local commissioning or future plans for domiciliary care. The Committee was satisfied that the information provided was up to date, had been looked into in detail and that Section 106 NHS contributions were not designated to dental provision.



Ultrafast Broadband Trial by Sky

This item had been added to the Work Programme as several Members of the Committee had received grave concerns and complaints by residents particularly in the Midway and Woodville wards, regarding the Ultrafast Fibre-Optic Broadband trial taking place. Following this, a meeting with senior representatives from Sky had been arranged, to ensure all concerns, which had been raised were looked into and could be fed back to residents. Sky assured the Committee that future correspondence to residents would be re-designed and that they would call upon local Councillors to aid the marketing team in doing so. Sky agreed to endeavour to attend meetings such as Parish Councils and Area Forums in order to inform residents and local Councillors of upcoming work taking place in their wards. Sky

also agreed that they would endeavour to notify local Councils at the same time as they notify the County Council of upcoming work.

Cemetery Provision

The Committee initially became involved in 2015 with regards to cemetery provision in South Derbyshire, in particular the reduction in cemetery space in the urban core and Gresley cemetery. An audit of Parish Councils provision, had been undertaken to assist in the consideration of the future cemetery needs of the district, and If it was determined that South Derbyshire District Council (SDDC) needed to build a new burial site, the Committee would be involved in how to find a new site, how to finance it and also how to manage it. A task group had been set up to carry on the work into 2016/17.

Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA)

The Committee has a standing function to monitor the Council's use of Regulation of Investigatory Powers (RIPA) on a quarterly basis, following the Council's Inspection by the Office of Surveillance Commissioners. The Committee was satisfied the Council's use of Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 Policy

and Guidance during the municipal year 2015/16 had been carried out according to the Act of 2000.

Dage 64 of 72



Electoral Services

The Committee requested the opportunity to scrutinise in detail, the procedures of the electoral services, following the recent move to Individual Electoral Registration (IER), and the departmental restructuring, as continued resilience was crucial in a fast growing area such as South Derbyshire. The Chief Executive presented a report to Committee on the revised structure of the Electoral Services section, and ensured Members that the Council could continue to effectively administer the Electoral Service.

Festival of Leisure

This item had been requested to appear on the Work programme as Members of the Committee felt that the original direction of the festival as a community event had changed over the last couple of years, and was now looked upon as a commercial event. The Committee invited the Director of Community & Planning Services and Officers from the Marketing & Events team to do a presentation on the background, breakdown and development of the Festival, and answer questions regarding the scrutiny process of sealed bids, the allocation and cost of stalls, in particular relating to local and charity groups. The Committee was satisfied with the process which the Festival of Leisure had been put through, and that local groups and charities had been given the opportunity to attend the event at reduced prices or at no cost.

Community Grant Fund Process

This item had been added to the Work programme as Members of the Committee questioned the current process by the District Council, in particular for smaller organisations, in providing funding advice and support to non-profit local developing projects. The Committee resolved that Members would work with the Community Partnership Manager in reviewing the process of smaller grants.



Housing Revenue Account Budget (HRA) 2015/16

The Committee had a specific role to assist the Finance and Management Committee with the Business Plan for the Housing Revenue Account budget (HRA) and subjected it to a detailed review of future capital investment plans to ensure that the HRA could meet commitments for debt repayment and maintain a minimum working balance in accordance with the Financial Strategy. The Committee was satisfied with the work undertaken and the outcome of the HRA review.

The Budget 2016/17

The Committee had a specific role to assist the Finance and Management Committee to develop the budget proposals. The Committee considered the Budget, the General Fund and Capital at two of its meetings in January and February 2016. Members were also invited to attend policy-setting meetings and Area Forums where detail presentations were given. The Committee was satisfied with the work undertaken and the outcome of the review of the Budget 2016/17.

Council Tax Arrears

Following the Director of Finance and Corporate Services presentation outlining the performance of the Council Tax arrears collection, a task group had been consigned to look into the details of the Council's current tax arrears situation. The task group looked at different ways the Council could encourage residents to pay their Council Tax by Direct Debit. Agreement had been reached that Officers continued to review Council Tax promotional literature and look to good practice guides used by other local councils.

Work Programme 2016/17

The Committee agreed that the following review areas to be included in the work Programme for 2016/17:

- Cemetery Provision
- South Derbyshire Community Health Service

2age 66 of 72



- Recycling
- Street Cleansing

3 What are our main Challenges for 2016-2017?

- To build on, and update, the achievements of Overview & Scrutiny.
- To ensure that Overview and Scrutiny continues to make a positive contribution to the development of policy and the continuous improvement of the Council's operations.
- To continue to ensure the Overview & Scrutiny work programme reflects concerns of service users, community and the public.
- To continue to ensure Overview &Scrutiny works with the community and key partners to respond to local concerns.
- To continue to ensure that the work of Overview &Scrutiny has a positive effect on decision-makers and provide evidence that it has made a real difference.

Chair, Vice-Chair and Members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee March 2016

Page 67 of 72



Published by South Derbyshire District Council Civic Offices, Civic Way Swadlincote Derbyshire DE 11 0AH

www.south-derbys.gov.uk

| REPORT TO: DATE OF MEETING: | OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 22 nd JUNE 2016 | AGENDA ITEM: 8 CATEGORY: DELEGATED |
|-----------------------------------|---|--|
| REPORT FROM: | CHIEF EXECUTIVE | OPEN PARAGRAPH NO: N/A |
| MEMBERS' CONTACT POINT: | TOVE CECILIA LINDGREN tove.lindgren@south-derbys.gov.uk (EXT: 5848) | DOC: |
| SUBJECT: | SETTING THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 2016-17 | REF: N/A |
| WARD(S) AFFECTED: | ALL | |

1.0 <u>Recommendations</u>

1.1 To consider and agree the proposed Committee Work Programme for the year 2016/17.

2.0 Purpose of the report

2.1 To set out a possible approach to setting the work programme for members to consider, along with the possible next steps for finalising it.

3.0. <u>Background</u>

3.1 the Overview & Scrutiny Committee has been given a clear remit by the Council to scrutinise and hold to account those who are responsible for providing services used by people in the district – both those services provided by the Council itself and other agencies

3.2. The Overview & Scrutiny Committee has carried out an extensive programme of activities over the years and this has allowed it to make a significant contribution to the life of the Council and South Derbyshire as a whole. The report summarising the work of the Committee during the 2015 -16 local government year was considered by members earlier on the agenda for today's meeting.

4.1 How we have set the work programme in the past.

4.1 The Committee has met as a focus group at a Scoping Meeting to identify potential issues to form its core work programme.

4.2 This approach to setting the work programme does have advantages. In particular, it is inclusive and can help to ensure that there is wider ownership of and support the Committee's work than might otherwise have been the case.

4.3 However, there are also potential drawbacks. Perhaps the most important of these is that the work programme that the Committee finally agrees on will not necessarily be based on or adequately address the Council's corporate objectives. In other words, there is no guarantee that what the Committee decides to look at will genuinely 'add value' to the Council or rather that what it looks at will add the *most* value. Given the limited member and officer capacity which the Committee has to carry out its work programme, it is important that we do this.

5. Setting the work programme for 2016/17

5.1 The most practical way in which the Committee can help to focus on the right issues would be by deciding in advance what criteria it is going to use in order to choose what issues it is going to scrutinise during the year. Members may want to consider adopting something along the following lines. It is offered at this stage as the basis for further discussion.

First: The work programme ought to be based on what is important for the Council and to its partners. We should focus on the key goals and objectives set out in the Council's Corporate Plan

Second: The programme should focus on performance to see whether we (and our partners) are actually delivering on the key goals and objectives set out in the Corporate Plan.

Third: The work programme should result in tangible and practical recommendations for action – rather than suggestions that are undeliverable (for example, because of the costs involved).

Fourth: The programme should be proportionate to the capacity of both members and officers to carry it out. We need to be clear about who is going to do what.

6.0 Using the corporate plan action plan to decide on the work topics.

6.1 It would be helpful if the Committee could consider potential topics for its work programme based around the new Corporate Plan themes.

7.0. The next steps

7.1 Once members have made a preliminary decision about what issues they would like to include in the work programme, the officers can then pull together some specific proposals for investigations for the Committee to consider. These could then form the basis for a consultation exercise with both internal and external stakeholders. The aim of this consultation exercise would be to determine: (a) whether they support the proposed programme of investigations or (b) if there were any alternative enquiries, related to the Council's corporate objectives, which the committee ought to carry out.

7.2 We would seek to fast track this process, so that the Committee was able to finalise and endorse its work programme at its June meeting and, with the agreement of the Chair, begin its first investigation at this meeting also.

7.3 Whatever lines of enquiry which the Committee does ultimately include in its work programme will need to be properly planned to ensure that they are effectively delivered. For example, we will need to be clear about what are we hoping to achieve from the investigation, what the key questions we would like to explore, who should be invited to give evidence to the Committee etc.

7.4 It is important that elected members can play a full part in any investigations. But this means being realistic about what they can do and how much capacity that they have to take part in Overview & Scrutiny. We also need to take into account the impact which any Overview & Scrutiny investigations might have on the wider organisation - both in those departments required to provide evidence / information and also on the Chief Executive's staff who provide governance and support to the Committee. Ultimately, there is no point in trying to carry out investigations that are so broad in their scope that neither elected members nor officers are able to deliver them.

8.0 Financial Implications

8.1 There are no specific financial implications arising from this report

9.0 Corporate Implications

9.1 None directly arising from this report

10.0 Background Papers

10.1 Scoping documents for reviews and previous committee reports

11.0 Attachments

11.1 Work Programme 2016/17 as Annexe A.

| - | | | | - | | | | | | | | | - | | |
|--|----------------------|--|----|-------------|------------|-----------|--------|--------|--------|----|--------|-------------|--------|------------|--|
| Project | Committe e & Date | | | Sep-16 | | Oct-16 | Nov-16 | Dec-16 | Jan-17 | 10 | Feb-17 | Mar-17 | Apr-17 | May-17 | Responsible Head of Service |
| | | | 22 | | | 19 | | | | 18 | ŏ | 22 | | | |
| nnual Report | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | Legal and Democratic Services Manager. |
| IPA | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | Legal & Democratic Services Manager |
| etting the Work programme | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | Director of Finance and Corporate Services |
| udget | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | Director of Finance and Corporate Services |
| estival of Leisure | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | Director of Community and Planning |
| treet Scene | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | Director of Housing and Environmental Servic |
| ecycling/Bulky Waste Collections | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | Director of Housing and Environmental Servic |
| erbyshire Community Health Provision | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | Director of Community and Planning |
| dult Care/Publich Health | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | Director of Community and Planning |
| lember IT Provision | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | Director of Finance and Corporate Services |
| /oluntary Sector | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | Director of Community and Planning |
| Section 106 Progress | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | Director of Community and Planning |
| Domiciliary Dental Provision | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | Director of Community and Planning |
| elecare Provision | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | Director of Housing and Environmental Servic |
| ementia & Their Carers Public Meeting | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | Director of Community and Planning |
| ocal Provision of End of Life Care - Public leeting | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | Director of Community and Planning |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Кеу | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| eport to Committee | | | | Verbal Upda | ate / Pres | sentation | | | | | | | | | |
| eport to Task Group | | | | Public Meet | ing | | | | | | | | | | |